**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions**

**Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge**

**RECEIVED**  
JUN 21 2022  
SC Court of Appeals

---

**Appellate Case No. 2021-000486  
Lower Case Nos. 2018GS2401480, 2018GS2401481**

---

**The State, ..... Respondent,**

**vs.**

**Tremaine O. Pride, ..... Appellant**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**C. RAUCH WISE  
Attorney at Law  
305 Main Street  
Greenwood, SC 29646  
Bar No 06188  
(864) 229-5010**

**Attorney for Appellant**

**

### **Statement of Issues on Appeal**

Question I: Did the trial court err in failing to acknowledge that Tremaine O. Pride had been released on a bond order that cited the arrest warrant number for trafficking cocaine in violation of S.C. Code § 44-53-370(e)(2)(b)(3) when the State had indicted him for trafficking crack cocaine in violation of S. C. Code 44-53-376(C) and, therefore, the Court did not have the right to try him in his absence for a different charge?

Question II: Did the trial court err in failing to exclude the testimony of a witness that had violated the sequestration order issued by the judge when the state knew the witness would be called at trial to testify and permitted him to sit in the courtroom during the testimony of two other witnesses?

Question III: Did the trial court err in failing to give a reasonable doubt instruction that included the phrase “hesitate to act” as approved by prior decisions of this court?

## **Statement of the Case**

### *Procedural History*

Wesley McClinton of the Greenwood City Police Department arrested Tremaine O. Pride on April 18, 2018 on the charges of resisting arrest and trafficking what he believed to be crack cocaine. Rec. on App at 100, ll 8-10. An arrest warrant was issued for trafficking cocaine. On August 17, 2018, the Greenwood County Grand Jury indicted Mr. Pride on the resisting arrest charge and directly indicted him on the charge of trafficking crack cocaine.

On September 4, 2018, a bond hearing was held on the charges. The bond hearing transcript references indictment № 2018-GS-24-01481, which is the trafficking in crack cocaine charge. Mr. Pride was released on a bond of \$75,000 with electronic monitoring. The bond order references the arrest warrant number of 2018A2420100383, which is the trafficking in cocaine charge, and arrest warrant № 2018A240100386, which is the resisting arrest charge.

On December 10, 2018, the State called Mr. Pride's case for trial. He did not appear. He was then tried in his absence. On December 12, 2018, he was convicted of trafficking crack cocaine and resisting arrest. On April 29, 2021, after Mr. Pride was apprehended, the sentence was opened and read. He was sentenced to one year in prison for resisting arrest and 25 years for trafficking crack cocaine. The sentences are to run concurrently.

On April 29, 2021 a Notice of Intent to Appeal was filed and received by the Court of Appeals on May 3, 2021.

### *Factual History*

On April 18, 2018, Officer Wesley McClinton, of the City of Greenwood Police Department, along with two other officers in other patrol cars, was patrolling the area of Gray

Street in the City of Greenwood based upon information that Tremaine O. Pride may be in the area. Rec. on App. at 95, ll 18-20. As they turned onto Gray Street, Officer McClinton saw Mr. Pride sitting on the front porch of 719 Gray Street. Rec. on App. at 95, l 22 to 96, l 1.

As the officers approached Mr. Pride, Officer McClinton informed him he was under arrest as the officers knew of an outstanding arrest warrant. After they told Mr. Pride he was under arrest, Mr. Pride took off running. Rec. on App. at 96, ll 14-21. Officer McClinton chased Mr. Pride from the apartment, to an area near the city shop and ultimately into a small creek running through the area. With the assistance of Agent Sammy Evans, Officer McClinton was able to control Mr. Pride. Before Agent Evans came to the assistance of Officer McClinton, Officer McClinton saw Mr. Pride pull an object from his sock and throw it away. Rec. on App at 97, ll 4-15.

After Agent Evans controlled Mr. Pride, Officer McClinton went in the direction of where the object was thrown and found a bag containing approximately 30 grams of crack cocaine. Rec. on App at 99, ll 8-17.<sup>1</sup> The bag was never checked for fingerprints nor tested for DNA. Rec. on App at 114, ll 10-23.

During the trial, the State called Officer Whitfield Brooks to testify. Rec. on App at 123. His name was read out as a potential witness at the beginning of the trial. Rec. on App at 31, l 5. Defense counsel objected to this witness testifying as he had been in the courtroom during the previous testimony of officers McClinton and Sammy Evans. The parties had agreed to sequester the witnesses. Rec. on App at 122, ll 10-23. The trial judge declined to bar the witness

---

<sup>1</sup> While the Officer McClinton testified he believed the substance to be crack cocaine, he signed an arrest warrant for trafficking cocaine. The reason for this discrepancy was never explained.

from testifying stating, “I think it would be in violation of the sequestration order if it’s something different or something that has not been brought out.” Rec. on App at 123, ll 8-10. Officer Brooks supported the testimony of Officer McClinton as to the bag of crack cocaine being placed in the police vehicle being used by Officer Brooks.

Trial counsel had also objected to the failure of the trial judge to charge the “hesitate to act” portion of the reasonable doubt charge. Rec. on App at 167, ll 19-23.

## Standard of Review

As to Issues I and III, the standard of review is de novo as they both involve a question of law. “We review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180–81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018)

As to Issue II, the admission of the testimony of Officer Whitfield Brooks, the standard of review is abuse of discretion. “The admission or exclusion of evidence is also subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review.” *State v. Douglas*, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 237 (Ct. App. 2016)

## Argument

### Question I

**Question I: Did the trial court err in failing to acknowledge that Tremaine O. Pride had been released on a bond order that cited the arrest warrant number for trafficking cocaine in violation of S.C. Code § 44-53-370(e)(2)(b)(3) when the State had indicted him for trafficking crack cocaine in violation of S. C. Code 44-53-376(C) and, therefore, the Court did not have the right to try him in his absence for a different charge?**

The basic issue here is whether a defendant who is released on bond as to one charge can be tried in his absence for a separate charge from that listed in the bond? The obvious answer is no, even if the defendant were aware of the fact that he possessed a substance different from which he was released on bond. When the bond cites possession of a substance which the defendant knows the State cannot prove, then he knows that the State in the trial for the possession of the substance upon which he was released on bond, cannot prove the case and, therefore, he has no chance of being convicted. His failure to comply with the conditions of his

bond could not as a matter of law result in his conviction for the crime upon which he was released on bond. Under the conditions of the bond, the only charge for which he could be tried was trafficking cocaine. He was not tried for that charge. The State used the code section for trafficking cocaine in the warrant. The State used the arrest warrant number and not the indictment number in the bond order. While the State argued below that the body of the warrant says “crack cocaine,” the State knew enough to direct indict Mr. Pride rather than make reference to an arrest warrant that contains a different crime. The trial judge dismissed the contradiction as being “nothing more than a scribbler’s error.” Rec. on App at 63, ll 3-4. The problem with this conclusion is that the trial judge never took any testimony to determine how the error occurred. Nor does the finding change the fact that the bond given to Mr. Pride made reference to the warrant that included the “scribbler’s error.”

The issue in this case is not what knowledge Tremaine O. Pride had as to what the nature of the substance was or even upon which charge he was indicted. The issue is upon what charge was Mr. Pride issued a bond which would require him to appear in court and answer to the crime set forth in the bond. As this Court has held, “The bond form only provided Goode with notice of the charge for breaking into a motor vehicle and that he would be tried in his absence if he failed to appear for his trial on that particular charge.” *State v. Goode*, 299 S.C. 479, 482, 385 S.E.2d 844, 846 (1989). Here the bond form provides notice that Mr. Pride was being released on the charges contained in a specifically identified arrest warrant which has been served on Mr. Pride. Mr. Pride knew the charge was trafficking cocaine. The State knew the charge was trafficking cocaine. These two facts do not change the wording of the bond order.

The State may argue this is putting form over substance. A bond order is not difficult or

complicated to prepare. To say that a bond order releasing a defendant on a bond for one charge is a basis to try him in his absence with any other charge for which he has been arrested is to ignore the purpose of the bond order - to tell the defendant upon which charge he is being released and which charge he would be tried on if he did not show up for trial. The bond order, aside from special conditions such as no contact with a victim, serves no other purpose. If the State or the lower court made a mistake in preparing the bond order, that should not be a basis for ignoring the specific conditions of the bond.

## **Question II**

**Question II: Did the trial court err in failing to exclude the testimony of a witness that had violated the sequestration order issued by the judge when the state knew the witness would be called at trial to testify and permitted him to sit in the courtroom during the testimony of two other witnesses?**

As the Connecticut Supreme Court has said, “The right to have witnesses sequestered is an important right that facilitates the truth-seeking and fact-finding functions of a trial.” *State v. Robinson*, 230 Conn. 591, 598, 646 A.2d 118, 122 (1994). Against this standard, this issue must be judged. The facts establish that Officer Whitfield Brooks violated the sequestration order. When Officer Brooks was called to testify, defense counsel made a timely objection to the officer testifying. Rec. on App 122, ll 10-23.

Initially, after a brief discussion, the trial judge stated, “I think it would be in violation of the sequestration order if it’s something different or something that has not been brought out.” Rec. on App at 123, ll 8-10. This is the exact opposite as to the reason for sequestration of witnesses. The purpose is to prevent two witnesses who are testifying about the same incident or

observation from hearing the testimony of the other witness. As the North Carolina Court of Appeals has said, “The purpose of a sequestration order is to prevent the witnesses from hearing the testimony of other witnesses and colluding with each other.” *State v. Williamson*, 74 N.C. App. 114, 117, 327 S.E.2d 319, 321 (1985); *See, also State v. Lowe*, 61 Conn. App. 291, 297, 763 A.2d 680, 684 (2001)(“The primary purpose of a sequestration order is to ensure that the defendant receives a fair trial by preventing witnesses from shaping their testimony to corroborate falsely the testimony of others.”) and *People v. Melendez*, 80 P.3d 883, 885 (Colo. App. 2003), *aff’d*, 102 P.3d 315 (Colo. 2004) (“The purposes of a sequestration order are to prevent a witness from conforming his or her testimony to that of other witnesses and to discourage fabrication and collusion”)

If witnesses are testifying about different subjects, they could hardly collude or tailor their testimony to agree. When the witnesses are testifying about the same subject, the chances of a witness tailoring their testimony to agree with the testimony they heard is greatly increased. The need for the sequestration of the SLED chemist is generally not related to the illegal seizure of the drugs or the chain of custody prior to the drugs arriving at SLED. Here the testimony of the two officers related to the seizure and chain of custody of the seized items. Under such circumstance, prejudice can be and should be presumed. This is true because once a witness has heard the testimony of the other witness on the same subject, defense counsel will never be able to prove what the witness would have testified to had the witness not heard the other witness testify.

After Officer Brooks testified in camera, the trial judge then stated, “I’m going to find that, based upon what he’s testified to, the sequestration order has not been violated.” Rec. on

App at 127, ll 20-22. This is obviously an incorrect factual finding. This is important in determining if the trial judge abused his discretion in permitting Officer Brooks to testify.

Our Supreme Court has held, “The decision whether to waive a sequestration order for witnesses present during the trial rests in the sound discretion of the trial judge.” *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 126, 551 S.E.2d 240, 247 (2001). This Court has said, “An abuse of discretion occurs when there is an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support.” *Ellis v. Davidson*, 358 S.C. 509, 524, 595 S.E.2d 817, 825 (Ct. App. 2004). Here both are present. First the trial court erred in concluding that because Officer Brooks was testifying about the same subject, no violation of the rule occurred. This was an error of law. Second, when the trial court ruled, the sequestration rule was not violated, this was an error of fact. The facts in this record clearly show Officer Brooks was present in the courtroom during a substantial portion of the testimony of Officer McClinton. If he were in the courtroom during the testimony of Officer McClinton, then he was also in the courtroom during the testimony of Officer Sammy Evans, whose testimony followed Officer McClinton. The rule was violated as to two witnesses. The State knew who their witnesses were before the trial started.

In *State v. Washington*, 424 S.C. 374, 409, 818 S.E.2d 459, 477 (Ct. App. 2018), *aff'd* in part, *vacated* in part, *rev'd* in part, 431 S.C. 394, 848 S.E.2d 779 (2020), this Court affirmed a ruling where a defense witness was excluded for a violation of the sequestration rule. In so ruling this court said, “[T]he trial court found defense counsel, as an officer of the court, was responsible for enforcing the order involving its witnesses.” *Id.* at 409, 818 S.E.2d at 477. The exact same rule should apply to the State. The attorney for the State, as an officer of the court, had an obligation to control their witness so that the sequestration rule was not violated. They

failed in their obligation. And the trial court abused its discretion in permitting Officer Brooks to testify.

In reversing this case on this issue, this Court should issue an order barring Officer Whitfield Brooks from testifying at the re-trial. If such an order is not issued, the sequestration order would still be violated. The State should not benefit from its wrong.

### **Question III**

**Question III: Did the trial court err in failing to give a reasonable doubt instruction that included the phrase “hesitate to act” as approved by prior decisions of this court?**

Trial counsel objected to the failure of the trial judge to include in his charge the statement that a reasonable doubt is a doubt that would cause a person to “hesitate to act.” Rec. on App at 167, ll 19-21. The request by trial counsel was in keeping with the law and prior decisions of our supreme court. “A reasonable doubt is the kind of doubt that would cause a reasonable person to hesitate to act.” *State v. Manning*, 305 S.C. 413, 417, 409 S.E.2d 372, 375 (1991). Thus, at the time of this trial, this had been the suggested definition of reasonable doubt in our state for 27 years. In *State v. Jenkins*, 408 S.C. 560, 759 S.E.2d 759 (Ct. App. 2014) this Court quoted a reasonable doubt instruction that included the hesitate to act clause. This Court then said, “We find this reasonable doubt instruction to be a correct statement of the law.” *Id.* at 573, 759 S.E.2d at 766. A defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on a correct statement of the law. This is especially true when trial counsel requests a charge that has previously been approved by this Court in defining reasonable doubt. A defendant should not be convicted based upon an almost correct statement of the law. This is what occurred in this case.

This Court has further held that when a jury is charged that a reasonable doubt is a doubt

for which a reason can be given, this error is cured by a “hesitate to act” charge.<sup>2</sup> As this Court said, “Viewing the reasonable doubt charge as a whole, we find no reversible error given the court’s use of the suggested language in *Manning* that a reasonable doubt is ‘the kind of doubt that would cause a reasonable person to hesitate to act.’” *State v. Clute*, 324 S.C. 584, 595, 480 S.E.2d 85, 90 (Ct. App. 1996), overruled on other grounds by *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000). This case is not like *State v. Johnson*, 315 S.C. 485, 445 S.E.2d 637 (1994) where our Supreme Court upheld a decision by the trial judge not to give a definition of reasonable doubt. Here the trial judge gave a definition of reasonable doubt. Trial counsel objected contending he did not give a complete definition of reasonable doubt. The trial judge erred in not charging the applicable law as requested by trial counsel. Granted our Supreme Court has approved more than one definition of reasonable doubt. The fact there is more than one definition does not mean trial counsel is not entitled to the definition that best suits his defense to the case. This Court has reversed cases where the “hesitate to act” charge was not given after the trial judge stated they would give the charge and then changed his mind after closing arguments. *State v. Jones*, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001). In that case, in reliance upon the representation of the trial judge, defense counsel made this argument, “Well, when you go through this testimony and this evidence in this case, you’re gonna hesitate and you’re gonna hesitate and you’re gonna talk and it’s gonna get slow and you’re gonna hesitate and you’re finally gonna have to stop. And when you stop, you’re gonna have to say that, you know, he’s innocent. The State hasn’t carried their burden.” *Id.* at 576, 541 S.E.2d at 820-21. Because the trial judge

---

<sup>2</sup> Defining reasonable doubt as a doubt for which a reason can be given has not been reported in our state since 2003. *Todd v. State*, 355 S.C. 396, 585 S.E.2d 305 (2003)

elected not to charge a proper statement of the law, trial counsel in this case was not able to make such an argument. The difference between the two cases is not that the law has changed but that the judge decided before hand to tell trial counsel he was not going to charge a correct statement of the law. If Jones was entitled to have his lawyer make this argument, Mr. Pride was also entitled to have his trial lawyer make such an argument.