STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenwood County  
The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000486

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

TREMAINE O'KEEFE PRIDE,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jul 05 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO  
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial judge did not err in allowing Appellant’s trial to proceed in his absence because Appellant received written notice of his right to be present at trial and was warned that he would be tried in his absence should he fail to appear for trial via his bail form and the bond order. Furthermore, Appellant was notified of his trial date, both orally and in writing, by his trial attorney on three occasions.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred in allowing Appellant to be tried in his absence when Appellant’s bond order<sup>1</sup> listed an arrest warrant number, 2018A2420100383, that corresponded with the offense of trafficking in cocaine, 3<sup>rd</sup> offense rather than the offense of trafficking in cocaine base, 3<sup>rd</sup> offense that Appellant ultimately stood trial for in absentia. Appellant frames this issue as a question of “whether a defendant who is released on bond as to one charge can be tried in his absence for a separate charge from that listed in the bond?” (Initial Brief of Appellant 5). As an initial matter, the premise that Appellant’s argument is based on is fundamentally flawed. Appellant was not released on a bond order for trafficking cocaine, 3<sup>rd</sup> offense. Rather, Appellant was clearly notified that he faced a charge of trafficking crack cocaine, 3<sup>rd</sup> offense in the text of the bond order, the body of his arrest warrant, and at his bond hearing. (R. 4, 213, 217). However, even if this Court accepts the flawed premise upon which Appellant’s argument is based, Appellant’s framing of the issue obscures the true question that faced the trial judge and faces this Court: did Appellant waive his right to be present at trial? The answer to this question is yes. Appellant received written notice of his right to be present at trial and was warned he would be tried in his absence should he fail to attend via his bond form and

---

<sup>1</sup> Curiously, despite Appellant’s bond order being essential to Appellant’s argument, Appellant did not designate the bond form or the bail form to be included as part of the record on appeal for this Court’s consideration. (Appellant’s designation of matter). See State v. Stewart, 435 S.C. 405, 413, 867 S.E.2d 33, 37 (Ct. App. 2021) (holding an appellant has a duty to provide an appellate court with a record sufficient to review the issues on appeal).

bail form. (R. 216, 223). Even if notice via the written bond order was not sufficient to notify Appellant he would be tried in his absence, trial counsel stated he gave Appellant oral notice of his trial date on two occasions and written notice on a third occasion. Therefore, the trial judge properly determined that Appellant waived his right to be present at trial and the trial judge's decision was supported by facts in the record.

“It is well established that, although the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution guarantees the right of an accused to be present at every stage of his trial, this right may be waived, and a defendant may be tried in his absence.” State v. Ravenell, 387 S.C. 449, 455, 692 S.E.2d 554, 557 (Ct. App. 2010). However, “before a defendant may be tried in absentia, the trial court must determine a defendant voluntarily waived his right to be present at trial.” State v. Fairey, 374 S.C. 92, 100, 646 S.E.2d 445, 448 (Ct. App. 2007). “The Judge must make findings of fact on the record that the defendant (1) received notice of his right to be present and (2) was warned he would be tried in his absence should he fail to attend. Ravenell, 387 S.C. at 456, 692 S.E.2d at 558. See also Rule 16 SCRCrimP (“...a person indicted for misdemeanors and/or felonies may voluntarily waive his right to be present and may be tried in his absence upon a finding by the court that such person has received notice of his right to be present and that a warning was given that the trial would proceed in his absence upon a failure to attend the court.”). “Notice of the term of court for which the trial is set constitutes sufficient notice to enable a criminal defendant to make an effective waiver of his right to be present.” City of Aiken v. Koontz, 368 S.C. 542, 547, 629 S.E.2d 686, 689 (Ct. App. 2006). “Further, a bond form that provides notice that a defendant can be tried in absentia may serve as the requisite warning that he may be tried in his absence should he fail to appear.” Ravenell, 387 S.C. at 456, 692 S.E.2d at 558.

Appellant's argument fails for three reasons. First and foremost, Appellant's assertion that he was released on a bond order that listed the offense of trafficking cocaine, 3<sup>rd</sup> offense is plainly contradicted by the text of the bond order. (R. 217). The very first page of Appellant's bond order states that he is facing a charge of "Trafficking Crack 3<sup>rd</sup>". (R. 217). Additionally, the body of Appellant's arrest warrant lists "crack cocaine" as the substance that Appellant is accused of trafficking and Appellant was informed at the very outset of his bond hearing that he was before the court on a motion seeking bond for "a trafficking crack third offense." (R. 4, line 7, R. 213). The trial judge was keenly aware of these facts when he ruled: "And I'm going to deny your motion based upon the fact that the body of the warrant sufficiently states the drug involved was crack cocaine. The—the bond order and the bond hearing all reference crack cocaine." (R. 62, line 23-R.63, line 2). Therefore, Appellant's assertion that he was released on a bond order for a different offense or that he was somehow unaware of what offense he was being charged with is specious, at best.

Second, even if the flawed premise of Appellant's argument is accepted, Appellant's argument still fails because Appellant received written notice of his right to be present for trial and was warned that he would be tried in his absence should he fail to attend. Appellant's bail form stated the following: "I understand and have been informed that I have a right and obligation to be present at trial and should I fail to attend the court, the trial will proceed in my absence. (R. 216). Appellant indicated his consent to this statement by his signature. (R. 216). Furthermore, Appellant's bond order states "FAILURE TO APPEAR AT TRIAL WILL RESULT IN A TRIAL IN DEFENDANT'S ABSENCE." (R. 223)(all caps in original).

Finally, even if the written notice provided in the bail form and bond order were insufficient to advise Appellant that he would be tried in his absence, Appellant was notified by

his trial attorney of his trial date on three separate occasions. When asked by the trial judge, trial counsel for Appellant stated: “Your Honor, I had a conversation with my client on October 4<sup>th</sup>, which I orally notified him of the trial date. Another oral conversation with him on November 26<sup>th</sup>. And then written communication on November the 28<sup>th</sup>.” (R. 65, lines 12-16). The trial judge appropriately took evidence of the written and verbal notices Appellant received of his trial date into consideration and rendered the following ruling;

The Court: So, again, I’m going to revisit the two specific findings that I must make under the Wrapp<sup>2</sup> case, one, did [Appellant] receive notice of a specific term of court that he needed to be present? I find that he did, based upon Mr. Hodges’ oral communication on October 4<sup>th</sup> and November 26<sup>th</sup> to [Appellant], and his written communication on November 28<sup>th</sup>.

Secondly, was [Appellant] sufficiently apprised of the fact that if he did not attend his trial that he would be tried in his absence? And based upon Court’s Exhibit No. 3<sup>3</sup>, he signed an acknowledgement on the second page, which indicates—I’m just going to quote from the acknowledgement that he signed on September 11<sup>th</sup> of 2018, I understand and have been informed that I have a right and obligation to be present at trial. And should I fail to attend the Court, the trial will proceed in my absence. So the motion to continue is denied. And we will proceed forward with a trial in [Appellant]’s absence.

(R. 65, line 25-R.66, line 17). The trial judge did not err in allowing Appellant’s trial to proceed in his absence. Appellant’s convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

---

<sup>2</sup> State v. Wrapp, 421 S.C. 531, 808 S.E.2d 821 (2017).

<sup>3</sup> The trial judge seems to be referring to Appellant’s Bail Form, although the transcript does not show when it was marked as Court’s Exhibit #3.

## II.

**The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in allowing the testimony of Lieutenant Whitfield Brooks when Brooks' testimony was not influenced by the testimony he overheard in violation of the sequestration order, and any error in the admission of the testimony was harmless in light of the evidence against Appellant and how Appellant used Brooks' testimony.**

Appellant next argues the trial judge erred in failing to exclude the testimony of Lieutenant Whitfield Brooks who violated the trial judge's sequestration order. In support of his argument Appellant asserts: "Here the testimony of the two officers related to the seizure and chain of custody of the seized items. Under such circumstance, prejudice can be and should be presumed." (Initial Brief of Appellant 8). Appellant's argument fails for two reasons. First, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in allowing Brooks to testify. Before Brooks was allowed to testify, the trial judge allowed Brooks to testify *in camera*. Brooks testified that while he overheard the testimony of two prior witnesses, their testimony had no effect or influence on his testimony. (R. 127). Additionally, Brooks did not handle or move the items after they were placed in his car. (R. 127, 131). Therefore, Brooks was not a part of the chain of custody. (R. 225). Second, even if the trial judge admitted Brooks' testimony in error, any error was entirely harmless. Far from being prejudiced by Brooks' testimony, Appellant used it to his advantage in closing argument to suggest the absence of Brooks' name from the chain of custody form raised reasonable doubt about the authenticity of the drugs. (R. 180). For both of the aforementioned reasons, the trial judge's decision to allow Brooks to testify was not reversible error.

"At the request of a party the court may order witnesses excluded so that they cannot hear the testimony of other witnesses, and it may make the order of its own motion." Rule 615 SCRE. However, "a party is not entitled to the sequestration of witnesses as a matter of right. The

decision to sequester witnesses is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge.” State v. Tisdale, 338 S.C. 607, 616, 527 S.E.2d 389, 394 (Ct. App. 2000). “Whether a witness should be exempted from a sequestration order is within the trial court’s sound discretion.” Gattison v. South Carolina State College, 318 S.C. 148, 151, 456 S.E.2d 414, 415 (Ct. App. 1995). “The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-48 (2006).

Here, Appellant made a motion to sequester witnesses before trial. (R. 73). Prior to Brooks testifying, Appellant moved to exclude Brooks’ testimony because he was present for the testimony of Wesley McClinton and Sammy Evans. (R. 122). The trial judge appropriately asked Brooks to testify *in camera* to determine the extent to which, if any, Brooks’ testimony was influenced by his presence during the testimony of McClinton and Evans. During Brooks *in camera* testimony, the following exchange with the trial judge occurred:

The Court: Officer Brooks, did the drugs ever change location from where Officer McClinton put them in the vehicle?

Brooks: No, sir.

The Court: Okay. Has any of the testimony from the prior two witnesses had any influence whatsoever on the testimony you’ve given today?

Brooks: No, sir.

(R. 127, lines 8-14). As the preceding exchange indicates, the trial judge properly determined during the *in camera* hearing that Brooks was not part of the chain of custody, nor was he influenced the testimony he overheard.

Even if the trial judge erred in allowing Brooks to testify, any error was entirely harmless. Brooks was not part of the chain of custody, thus his testimony was cumulative to the

testimony of the State's other witnesses. (R. 127, 131, State's Exhibit #9). However, even if Brooks were part of the chain of custody, his testimony was not necessary to admit the drugs that Appellant discarded from his sock. See State v. Sweet, 374 S.C. 1, 7, 647 S.E.2d 202, 206 (2007)("Testimony from each custodian of fungible evidence, however, is not a prerequisite to establishing a chain of custody sufficient for admissibility." See also State v. Taylor, 360 S.C. 18, 26, 598 S.E.2d 735, 738 (Ct. App. 2004)("If the identity of each person in the chain handling the evidence is established, and the manner of handling is reasonably demonstrated, no abuse of discretion is shown in the admission, absent proof of tampering, bad faith, or ill-motive.")). Because the State did not require Brooks' testimony to complete the chain of custody, Appellant was not prejudiced by the trial judge's ruling.

Brooks' testimony ultimately had no bearing on the outcome of Appellant's trial. The jury was convinced of Appellant's guilt by the testimony of Officer McClinton and his body camera footage which showed Appellant throwing crack cocaine from his sock as he fled law enforcement; not by Brooks' limited testimony regarding who had access to his car. (State's Exhibit #5 and #6). Furthermore, Appellant used Brooks' testimony to his advantage in the following argument to the jury:

Mr. Hodges: Who's the next witness that you heard from? Lieutenant Brooks. And the first question the solicitor was asking him, Did you expect to testify today?

No.

How long have you known you were going to testify?

About 10 minutes.

I submit to you, the State was scrambling around to try to plug that hole in their chain of custody. And I would invite you to look at the paperwork that was submitted to you about the chain of custody. There's a form here certifying who's in the physical chain of custody. Lieutenant Brooks' name is not anywhere on the

paperwork. Which then begs the question, you know, is there anybody else that had custody of this that's no on the paperwork that we don't know about? I mean, we discovered the one because it happened to be on the video. But, you know, who else's hands did this go through?

(R. 180, lines 5-21). Because the trial judge determined that Brooks' testimony was not influenced by the testimony that he overheard, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in allowing Brooks to testify. And because Brooks' testimony was not necessary to establish a chain of custody and was even used to Appellant's advantage in closing, any error in its admission is harmless.

### III.

**The trial judge did not err in refusing to instruct the jury using Appellant's preferred definition of reasonable doubt, because the trial judge was not required to define the term or give a specific definition. Nonetheless, the trial judge provided a thorough and correct definition of reasonable doubt that did not prejudice Appellant.**

Appellant finally argues that the trial judge erred in refusing to instruct the jury that a reasonable doubt is the kind of doubt that would cause a reasonable person to hesitate to act. Because the aforementioned language was not read to the jury, Appellant asserts he was "prohibited from making effective arguments." (Initial Brief of Appellant 12). Contrary to Appellant's argument, the trial judge was not required to give any definition of reasonable doubt, let alone Appellant's preferred definition. Instead, the trial judge gave a thorough definition of reasonable doubt that effectively mirrored a definition of reasonable doubt that has been explicitly approved by our Supreme Court. Furthermore, Appellant was in no way limited or prohibited from making an effective argument by the trial judge's jury instruction. Despite the trial judge's ruling, Appellant nonetheless argued in closing argument that if the jurors hesitated to convict then they would have a reasonable doubt. (R. 85-86, 182). Thus, the trial judge's instruction was correct and did not hinder Appellant's ability to defend himself.

“The beyond a reasonable doubt standard is a requirement of due process, but the Constitution neither prohibits trial courts from defining reasonable doubt nor requires them to do so as a matter of course.” Victor v. Nebraska, 511 U.S. 1, 5 (1994). “Indeed, so long as the court instructs the jury on the necessity that the defendant’s guilt be proven beyond a reasonable doubt, the Constitution does not require that any particular form of words be used in advising the jury of the government’s burden of proof.” Id. “Rather, ‘taken as a whole, the instructions [must] correctly conve[y] the concept of reasonable doubt to the jury.’” Victor 511 U.S. at 5 (quoting Holland v. United States, 348 U.S. 121, 140 (1954)).

“The trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.” State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010). In South Carolina, a trial judge is not required to instruct the jury on the meaning of reasonable doubt, let alone provide a specific definition for the term. State v. Johnson, 315 S.C. 485, 487, 445 S.E.2d 637, 637 (1994). However, if a trial judge chooses to instruct the jury on the meaning of reasonable doubt, our Supreme Court has expressly recognized two appropriate ways for reasonable doubt to be defined. State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 155, 508 S.E.2d 857, 868 (1998).

Under the first accepted jury charge, the trial judge could choose to instruct the jury that “[a] reasonable doubt is the kind of doubt that would cause a reasonable person to hesitate to act.” Id. at 155, n.12, 508 S.E.2d at 868. However, under the second accepted jury charge, the trial judge could instruct the jury as follows:

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